Joint stock company "Belarusian-Swiss Bank "BSB Bank"
Financial statements prepared in accordance with the
International financial reporting standards

For the year 2015
And an independent auditors’ report

1

Contents
Independent Auditors’ Report……………………………………………………………………………. 3
Management's responsibilities confirmation for the preparation and approval of the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2015……………………………………………………..6
Statement of financial position……………………………………………………………………….…….7
Statement of comprehensive income……………………………………………………………………..8
Statement of changes in equity……………………………………………… ...………………………..10
Statement of cash flows…………………………………………………………………………...………11
General information about the Bank.............................................................................................13
1.
2.
Basis of presentation ...................................................................................................................13
3.
Significant accounting policies .....................................................................................................14
4.
Critical accounting estimates and professional judgements ..........................................................21
5.
Changes in accounting policies due to application of new and revised Standards and
Interpretations .........................................................................................................................................23
6.
Other revised standards and interpretations that will affect future accounting policies...................23
7.
Cash and cash equivalents ..........................................................................................................27
8.
Precious metals ...........................................................................................................................27
9.
Due from banks ...........................................................................................................................27
10.
Derivative financial instruments ...................................................................................................27
11.
Loans to customers and receivables ............................................................................................29
12.
Financial assets available for sale................................................................................................30
13.
Property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets ..................................................................30
14.
Investment property .....................................................................................................................31
15.
Income tax...................................................................................................................................32
16.
Movement in vacation provision ...................................................................................................33
17.
Other assets and liabilities ...........................................................................................................33
18.
Due to other banks ......................................................................................................................34
19.
Due to customers ........................................................................................................................34
20.
Subordinated loans......................................................................................................................34
21.
Share capital ...............................................................................................................................35
22.
Contractual and contingent liabilities ............................................................................................36
23.
Interest income and expense .......................................................................................................36
24.
Fee and commission income and expense...................................................................................37
25.
Net gain on foreign exchange transactions...................................................................................37
26.
Net other (loss)/income................................................................................................................37
27.
Operating expenses ....................................................................................................................38
28.
Allowance for impairment of financial assets ................................................................................38
29.
Risk management policies ...........................................................................................................39
30.
Capital management....................................................................................................................46
31.
Fair value of financial instruments ................................................................................................47
32.
Related party transactions ...........................................................................................................49
33.
Subsequent events ......................................................................................................................50

KPMG, Limited liability company
57-53 Dzerzhinsky avenue
13th floor, office 53-2
220089 Minsk Belarus

Telephone
Fax
Internet

+375 17 372 72 57
+375 17 372 72 58
www.kpmg.by

Independent Auditors’ Report
To the Shareholders and Management of Joint-Stock Company “Belarusian-Swiss Bank
"BSB Bank”
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Joint stock company
"Belarusian-Swiss Bank "BSB Bank" (hereinafter referred to as “the Bank”), which comprise
the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2015, and the statements of
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
notes.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management of the Bank is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and for
such internal control as management determines necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or
error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those
standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal
control relevant to the Banks’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Banks’s internal control.
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting principles used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements.
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Joint stock company "Belarusian-Swiss Bank "BSB Bank" as at 31 December 2015,
and financial performance and cash flows of the Bank for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards.
Emphasis of Matter
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to the fact set out in Note 33 to the financial
statements. The Bank is a party to a trilateral investment agreement on establishing a multifunctional shopping mall, which violates the requirements of the third paragraph of Article 14
of the Banking Code of the Republic of Belarus, defining the types of banking activities. The
National Bank of the Republic of Belarus ordered the Bank to eliminate this violation.
In addition, as set out in Note 33 to the financial statements, the National Bank of the Republic
of Belarus imposed a restriction on banking transactions performed by the Bank in the form
of raising funds and deposits from individuals in the amount not-exceeding a specified limit
for raised funds and deposits from individuals, that are not individual entrepreneurs, in
Belarusian rubles and foreign currency.
As at the reporting date, the Bank failed to comply with the regulations on withdrawal from
the investment agreement and with specified limits. In case of non-compliance with the
requirements the National Bank of the Republic of Belarus has the right to apply additional
supervisory response measures. This condition indicates the existence of a material
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the Bank’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

JSC "BSB Bank"
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015
(in millions of Belarusian Rubles, taking into account purchasing power as at 31 December 2015, unless
otherwise stated)

1.

General information about the Bank

Joint stock company "Belarusian-Swiss Bank "BSB Bank" was registered by the National Bank of the Republic
of Belarus on 7 October 2002. The Bank conducts actual activities from 5 December 2002.
The Bank conducts its business under the license for performing banking operations # 7 issued by the National
Bank on 30 July 2014.
The Bank also has a special authorization from the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Belarus on
professional and exchange activities in securities market.
The Bank was also registered in the state institution "The Agency for the guaranteed reimbursement of
individuals' bank deposits," under the Certificate from 21 January 2009 №23.
The legal address of its registered office is 23/4 Pobediteley ave., 220004, Minsk, Republic of Belarus.
As at 31 December 2015 the Bank's organizational structure includes 8 branches, regional offices in Vitebsk
and Bobruysk, 5 currency exchange offices, 75 cash settlement and exchange transactions counters, 50
ATMs, 3 payment and information self-service terminal (cash –in ATM) and 70 credit card terminals.
The average number of employees of the Bank as at 1 January 2016 was 409 (as at 1 January 2015 - 429).
In 2015, the Bank carried out structural reorganization of cash settlement centers and established on their
basis relevant branches; additionally, the Bank created centralized back-office by transferring remote
functions to the Accounting and Reporting Department as a part of general centralization.
In 2015, the Bank raised the Bank's status to that of the principal member of the VISA payment system and
gained membership in the MasterCard payment system.
As at 31 December 2015 and 2014 the share capital of the Bank was owned by the following shareholders:

1
2
3

Shareholders
Joint company «Swiss Investment Century»
Joint company «Alpin Professional Investment»
Joint company «Profinvest Professional and Financial Investment»
Total

2015 (%)
9,57
85,09
5,34
100

2014 (%)
9,57
85,09
5,34
100

The ultimate beneficial owner of the Bank is a resident of Switzerland Lorenzo Tommasini.
2.

Basis of presentation

These financial statements are based on the Bank’s accounting data, prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the legislation of the Republic of Belarus, as adjusted and reclassified to comply with IFRS.
These financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain cases, as
explained in the accounting policies below.
These financial statements are presented in millions of Belarusian rubles (“BYR mln”), unless otherwise
stated.
Basis of measurement
These financial statements are prepared on historical cost basis except for certain non-monetary items
incurred prior to 31 December 2014, which were recognized in accordance with the International Accounting
Standard 29 "Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies" (IAS 29), and certain assets, which are
carried at fair value at each reporting date.
During the 2014 and prior years the economy of the Republic of Belarus was considered to be
hyperinflationary in accordance with IAS 29. Starting from 1 January 2015, the economy of the Republic of
Belarus is no longer considered hyperinflationary, thus the value of non-monetary assets, liabilities and equity
of the Bank presented in measuring units as at 31 December 2014, was used to form the opening balances
as at 1 January 2015.
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3.

Significant accounting policies

Financial instruments
Financial instruments are recognized at fair value, initial value or amortized cost depending on their
classification.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable
or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Bank
takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those
characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these financial statements is determined on such a basis, except
for leasing transactions that are within the scope of IAS 17 Leases, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realizable value in IAS 2 Inventories or value in use
in IAS 36 Impairments of Assets.
Moreover, for financial reporting purposes, the fair value measurement is classified into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the fair value hierarchy. Such levels indicate whether it is possible to determine the fair values directly based
on the market data and reflect the importance of the input data used for the overall fair value measurement:
•
Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the Bank can access at the measurement date;
•
Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and
•

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Methods of evaluating, such as discounted cash flows model, and models based on the data of similar
transactions, which are made on the market conditions or the current value of the investment, are used to
determine the fair value of financial instruments for which there is no available the market pricing information.
For the calculations using specified evaluation methods, it may be necessary to form the judgments which are
not supported by observable market data. The disclosures within these financial statements are provided when
changing in judgments will result in significantly changes in profit, income, total assets or total liabilities.
Initial cost is the amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of other consideration given to acquire
an asset at the time of its acquisition which includes transaction costs. Cost valuation is applied only to
investments in equity instruments without market quotes, whose fair value cannot be measured reliably, as well
as in respect of derivative financial instruments related to equity instruments that are not quoted and have to
be redeemed with such equity instruments.
Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of a
financial instrument. An incremental cost is one that would not have been incurred if the transaction had not
taken place. They include fees and commissions paid to agents (including employees acting as commercial
agents), consultants, brokers, or dealers, duties paid to regulatory authorities and stock markets, as well as
taxes and duties charged upon the transfer of property. Transaction costs do not include premiums or discounts
for debt liabilities, costs of financing, internal administrative expenses or storage costs.
Amortized cost is the initial cost of the asset less: payments of principal debt, reduced or increased by the
amount of accumulated by means of the effective interest method of amortization difference between initial cost
and maturity value, less any write-down of incurred impairment losses. Accrued interest income and accrued
interest expense, including both accrued coupon and amortized discount or premium (including fees deferred
at origination, if any) are not presented separately and are included in the carrying values of related statement
of financial position.
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The effective interest method - a method of allocating interest income or interest expense over the relevant
period so as to achieve a constant rate in each period (effective interest rate) on the carrying amount. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash flows (except for future credit
losses) through the expected life of the financial instrument or, (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition. The effective interest rate discounts cash flows of variable interest
instruments to the next interest repricing date except for the premium or discount which reflects the credit
spread over the floating rate specified in the instrument, or other variables that are not reset to market rates
value. Such premiums or discounts are amortized over the whole expected life of the instrument. The present
value calculation includes all fees paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate.
Initial recognition
Derivative financial instruments and securities in the Bank’s trading portfolio are initially recognized at fair value.
All other financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value, including transaction costs. The best
evidence of fair value at initial recognition is the transaction price. The gain or loss on initial recognition is only
recorded if there is a difference between fair value and transaction price, which can be evidenced by other
observable current market transactions with the same instrument or the valuation method, which as a baseline
using only observable market data.
Date of recognition
Purchase and sale of financial assets that require delivery within the time frame established by the legislation
or market convention (“regular way” purchase and sale) are recorded on the date of transaction, which is
considered for the Bank the date of recognition of its obligations on asset’s sale or purchase. All other
purchases are recognized when the Bank enters into an agreement related to such financial instrument.
To determine the fair value of currency swaps, forward foreign exchange contracts that are not traded in an
active market, the Bank uses the methods of discounted cash flow valuation. There is the likelihood of
differences between the fair value at initial recognition, which is assumed to be the transaction price and the
amount determined at initial recognition using the valuation method.
Derecognition
The Bank derecognizes financial assets when (a) the assets are redeemed or the rights to cash flows from the
assets expire or (b) the Bank transferred the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset the financial
asset or enters into a transfer agreement, and at the same time (i) it also transferred all risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets, or (ii) has neither transferred nor retained all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
assets, but lost control over such assets. Control is retained if the counterparty does not have the practical
ability to sell the asset in its entirety to an unrelated third party without needing to impose restrictions on the
sale.
Offsetting
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognized amounts and there is an intention to the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously. As a rule, this is not the case with general offsetting agreements, and the
related assets and liabilities are stated in full amount in the statement of financial position.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, unrestricted balances on correspondent and time deposit
accounts with the National Bank with original maturity within 90 days, due from banks with original maturity
within 90 days, which may be converted to cash within a short period, except for guarantee deposits and other
restricted balances. For purposes of determining cash flows, the minimum reserve deposit required by the
National Bank is not included as a cash equivalent due to restrictions on its availability. Cash and cash
equivalents are recognized at amortized cost.
Precious metals
Gold and other precious metals are recorded at fair value. To determine fair value of precious metals bar,
purchased in the territory of the Republic of Belarus and stored in the Bank the National Bank’s accounting
prices are used, to determine the fair value of precious metals bars purchased and stored in the non-residents
banks quotations on the London Metal Exchange are used. Changes in the quotations or National Bank’s
accounting prices are recognized in net gain/(loss) on operations with precious metals.
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Mandatory reserve deposit with the National Bank
Mandatory reserve deposit with the National Bank comprise mandatory reserve deposits with the National Bank
which are not available to finance day to day operations of the Bank, and hence are not considered as part of
cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the statement of cash flows. Mandatory reserve deposits are
recognized at amortized cost.
Due from banks
Due from banks are recognized when the Bank advances money to the counterparty banks, wherein the Bank
has no intention to carry out trading of the resulting receivables, unrelated to derivatives, not quoted and
repayable on fixed or determinable date. Due from banks are recognized at amortized cost.
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial asset is classified as at fair value through profit or loss when the financial asset is either held for
trading or is designated as at fair value through profit or loss at initial recognition.
A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:
•

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term;

•
on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Bank manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or
•

it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

Financial assets at fair value through profit of loss are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on
remeasurement recognized in profit or loss. Fair value is determined in the manner described in Note 31.
Derivative financial instruments
The Bank uses derivative financial instruments (derivatives) such as foreign currency forwards as well as
exchange of deposits in different currencies (swap). These instruments are used by the Bank to manage its
exposure to foreign exchange rate risk.
Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value at the date the derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period. As foreign currency forwards
and swaps do not have an active market in the Republic of Belarus, they are measured using interest rates
parity model. The resulting gains or losses are recognized in profit or loss.
Loans and advances to customers
Trade receivables not traded in an active market, loans issued and other receivables with fixed or determinable
payments are classified as loans and receivables. Loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost using
the effective interest rate method less impairment. Interest income is recognized using the effective interest
rate method, except for short-term receivables, interest on which is low.
Write-off of loans
Loans are written off against allowance for impairment losses when deemed uncollectible, including through
repossession of collateral. Loans are written off after management has exercised all possibilities available to
collect amounts due to the Bank.
Credit related commitments
The Bank issues financial guarantees and loan commitments. Financial guarantees represent irrevocable
commitment to make payments in the event of default by the customer of its obligations to third parties and
carry the same credit risk as loans. Financial guarantees and commitments to provide a loan are initially
recognized at fair value, which is normally evidenced by the amount of fees received. This amount is amortized
on a straight-line basis over the life of the commitment, except for commitments to extend credit, if it is probable
that the Bank will enter into a specific lending arrangement and will not plan to sell the resulting loan shortly
after origination; such fee and commission income are recognized as deferred income and are included in the
loan’s carrying value at initial recognition. At the end of each reporting period, the liabilities are measured at
the higher of (i) the unamortized balance of the amount at initial recognition; and (ii) the best estimate of the
expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period.
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In cases, when the fee and commission income accrued from time to time in respect of the unrealized assets,
they are recognized as revenue on a straight line basis over the term of the related liabilities.
Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated as available for sale or are not
classified as (a) loans and receivables, (b) held-to-maturity investments or (c) financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss.
Unlisted shares and bonds classified as available for sale that are not traded in an active market are stated at
fair value, as far as the management of the Bank considers that their fair value can be reliably measured. Fair
value is determined in the manner described in Note 30. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value
are recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve, with
the exception of other-than-temporary impairment losses, interest calculated using the effective interest rate
method, and foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary assets, which are recognized in profit or loss.
Where the investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss in the period of disposal or
impairment.
If there is objective evidence of impairment of such securities, the cumulative loss previously recognized
through other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss for the reporting period. Impairment loss
recognized through profit or loss can not be reversed through profit or loss in future. If in any of the subsequent
period, the fair value of securities available-for-sale increases and the increase can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized through profit or loss, the impairment loss is to be
reversed, and amount of impairment loss is recognized through profit or loss.
The fair value of available-for-sale monetary assets denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that
foreign currency and translated at the spot rate at the end of the reporting period. The foreign exchange gains
and losses that are recognized in profit or loss are determined based on the amortized cost of the monetary asset.
Other foreign exchange gains and losses are recognized in other comprehensive income.
Available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose
fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost less any identified impairment losses at the end
of each reporting period.
Property and equipment
Property and equipment are carried at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any recognized
impairment loss, if any. Property and equipment acquired prior to 1 January 2015 are carried at historical cost
restated for inflation less accumulated depreciation and any recognized impairment loss, if any.
At the end of each reporting period, the management assesses whether there is evidence of impairment of
property and equipment items. If any such indication exists, the management estimates the recoverable
amount, which is determined as the higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell and its value as a result of
its use. The carrying amount is reduced to recoverable amount and the impairment loss is recognized in profit
or loss for the year. An impairment loss recognized for an asset in prior years is reversed if there has been a
change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s value in use or fair value less costs to sell.
Any gain or loss arising on sale or other disposal of an item of property and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognized in profit or loss
for the year.
Depreciation
Properties under construction are not depreciated. Depreciation of other property and equipment items is
recognized so as to write off the cost of assets (other than properties under construction) less their residual
values over their useful lives, using the straight-line basis:
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Buildings
Computer equipment
Vehicles
Office furniture and other fixed assets

Year ended
31 December 2015
1-15%
13-50%
13-17%
2-24%

Year ended
31 December 2014
1-15%
13-50%
13-17%
2-24%

The residual value and useful lives are reviewed and, if necessary, adjusted at each reporting date.
Investment property
Investment properties is property held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation (including property under
construction for such purposes). Investment property is initially recognized at cost including purchase cost.
Subsequently, investment property is recognized at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment loss.
The cost of investment property acquired prior to 1 January 2015 is adjusted for inflation. Depreciation is
charged on a straight line basis based over the useful life of objects of property, being 100 years.
Intangible assets
Intangible assets of the Bank have definite useful lives and mainly include capitalized computer software.
Acquired computer software licenses are capitalized on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to
use the specific software. All other costs related to computer software (for example, its maintenance) are
recognized, as incurred. Capitalized computer software is amortized on a straight-line basis over the expected
useful life, which varies from 2 to 10 years.
Operating lease
When the Bank is a lessee, and all the risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of an asset are not
transferred to the Bank by the lessor the total amount of payments under operating leases contracts are
recognized in profit or loss for the year (rent expenses) on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Due to other banks
Due to other Banks are recognized when money or other assets are advanced to the Bank by counterparty
banks. Non-derivative financial liabilities are recognized at amortized cost.
Due to customers
Due to customers are non-derivative financial liabilities to individuals, state or corporate customers and are
measured at amortized cost.
Subordinated loan
Subordinated loans are to be repaid after settlement of all other creditors’ claims given its liquidation.
Subordinated loans are recognized at amortized cost.
Preference shares
Preference shares are classified as a financial liability, due to the fact that they provide the payment of
mandatory fixed dividends. Dividends in this case are recognized, as incurred, as interest expense in the
income statement.
Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments such as foreign currency forwards and exchange of deposits in different
currencies (swap) are recognized at fair value.
All derivative financial instruments are recognized as assets when the fair value of these instruments is positive
and as liabilities when their fair value is negative. Changes in the fair value of derivative instruments are
recognized as profit or loss for the year (gains less losses from derivative financial instruments). The Bank does
not apply hedge accounting.
Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.
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Current income tax
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in
the income statement because of items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Bank's liabilities for current income tax are calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted as at the reporting date.
Deferred income tax
Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred
tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognized for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilized.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset
to be recovered.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which
the liability is settled or the asset realized, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Bank expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
Current and deferred income tax for the year
Current and deferred income taxes are recognized in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case the current and deferred tax are
also recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.
Operating taxes
The Republic of Belarus, where the Bank operates, also has various other taxes, which are assessed on the
Bank’s activities, except income tax. These taxes are included as a component of operating expenses in the
income statement.
Provision for guarantees and other liabilities
Provisions are non-financial liabilities of indefinite term or amount. Provisions are recognized in the financial
statements when the Bank has liabilities (legal or arising from the current business practices) that have arisen
before the reporting date. At the same time, it is probable that the execution of these obligations will require an
outflow of economic resources, and the liability can be estimated with reasonable accuracy.
Share capital
Ordinary shares are recognized as equity. Incremental costs directly related to the issue of new shares are
recognized in equity as a reduction in revenue (before tax). Any excess of the fair value of consideration
received over the par value of shares issued is recorded as share premium in equity.
Recognition of interest income and expense
Interest income and expense are recognized on an accrual basis using the effective interest rate method. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts all commission fees and duties paid and received under
the contract, that form an integral part of effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts.
Fees related to the effective interest rate include origination fees collected or paid in connection with creation
or acquisition of a financial asset or issuance of a financial liability (e.g. a fee for creditworthiness assessment,
a fee for assessing or keeping records of guarantees or collateral, a fee for regulating the terms of provision of
an instrument, and a fee for processing transaction paperwork). Fees collected by the Bank for assuming
commitment to grant a loan at market interest rates form an integral part of the effective interest rate when it is
probable that a loan commitment will lead to a specific lending arrangement and does not expect to sell the
resulting loan shortly after origination. The Bank does not recognize loan commitments as financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss.
Once loans and other debt instruments become doubtful of collection, they are written down to the recoverable

19

JSC "BSB Bank"
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015
(in millions of Belarusian Rubles, taking into account purchasing power as at 31 December 2015, unless
otherwise stated)

value and then recognized using the effective interest rate used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose
of measuring the impairment loss.
All other fees, other income and expense items are generally recognized on an accrual basis, depending on
the degree of completion of the specific transaction, defined as the proportion of the actual service provided to
the total services to be provided.
Commissions and fees arising from negotiating, or participating in the negotiation of a transaction for a third
party, such as the acquisition of loans, shares or other securities or the purchase or sale of businesses,
collected upon execution of the underlying transaction, are recognized on its completion. Fees and commission
income on investment portfolio management, and other management and advisory fees are recognized in
accordance with the terms of service contracts, usually in proportion to the time spent.
Staff costs and related contributions
Wages, salaries, contributions to the state social insurance and pension funds, paid annual leave and sick
leave, bonuses and non-monetary benefits are accrued for rendering relevant services by employees of the
Bank. The Bank does not have any legal or other arrangements on retirement or similar payments other than
those to the statute pension fund.
Translation of foreign currency
The functional and presentation currency of these financial statements is Belarusian Ruble. Transactions in
currencies other than functional currency are recognized at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency at the
rates prevailing at the reporting date. Revenue and loss resulting from the translation of foreign currency
transactions are recognized in the income statement in line "Net gain on foreign exchange operations". Nonmonetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not restated.
Differences between the contractual exchange rate of a transaction in foreign currency and the official exchange
rate set by the National Bank of the Republic of Belarus at the date of the transaction are included in income
less loss from foreign currency transactions.
The exchange rates used by the Bank in the preparation of the financial statements as of year-end are as
follows:
Belarusian Ruble (“BYR”)/US Dollar (“USD”)
Belarusian Ruble (“BYR”)/Euro (“EUR”)
Belarusian Ruble (“BYR”)/Russian Ruble (“RUB”)

31 December 2015
18 569,0
20 300,0
255,3

31 December 2014
11 850,0
14 380,0
214,5

Preparation of the cash flow statement
The cash flow statement was prepared using the direct method. Dividends paid are recognized as part of cash
flows from financing activities.
Changes in comparative data presented in the financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2014
Classification of due from banks of countries not-members of OECD, with original maturities of up to 90 days.
During the preparation of the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015, the statement of
financial position has been amended compared with the data presented in the financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2014, in respect of recognition of deposits in banks, as "Cash and cash equivalents" and
"Due from banks". In the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2014 deposits in banks of
countries not-members of OECD with original maturities of up to 90 days, were recognized as "Due from banks".
In 2015, it was decided to change the presentation of such assets for the purpose of more reliable and fair
presentation of the assets and their recognition as "Cash and cash equivalents".
Effect of changes in the presentation of the statement of financial position for the year ended 31 December
2015, with respect to data presented in the statement of financial position for the year ended 31 December
2014, was as follows:
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In millions of Belarusian rubles

Cash and cash equivalents
Due from banks

After change

679 077
51 365

Effect of
change

According to the
financial statements
for the previous period

255 341
(255 341)

423 736
306 707

Recognition of deferred taxes
Some changes have also been introduced to the corresponding data in the statements of financial position,
comprehensive income, changes in equity as at 31 December 2014 due to the identified error in calculation of
deferred taxes during preparation of the financial statements for the period ended 31 December 2014.
Management of the Bank have adjusted the amount of deferred tax, the amount of income tax as at 31
December 2014.
As at 31 December 2014 changes were as follows:
Statement of financial position (in
Before
millions of Belarusian rubles)
adjustment
Deferred income tax liabilities
17 878
Deferred income tax assets
Accumulated loss
(55 779)
Statement of comprehensive income
Before
(in millions of Belarusian rubles)
adjustment
Income tax

Adjustment
amount
(17 878)
7 872
25 750
Adjustment
amount

(37 853)

After adjustment
7 872
(30 029)
After adjustment

25 750

(12 103)

The classification of derivative financial instruments in the category of fair value hierarchy
Derivative financial instruments recognized in the financial statements as at 31 December 2014 in the amount
of BYR 60 838 mln (asset) and BYR 5 412 mln (liability), were classified as Level 2 fair value hierarchy. When
preparing the financial statements as at 31 December 2015, it was decided to reclassify such derivative financial
instruments in order to achieve more reliable and fair presentation of these instruments based on the valuation
method and data used. Derivative financial instruments transactions do not have an active market and are
measured using interest rates parity model. Interest rates applied are the risk free rates on sovereign debt
instruments denominated in respective currency with respective maturity. Derivative financial instruments were
measured at Level 3 in the financial statements as at 31 December 2015, as well as for the presentation of
comparative data as at 31 December 2014 (Note 31).
4.

Critical accounting estimates and professional judgements

The Bank makes estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts recognized in the financial statements
and the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the next financial year. Estimates and assumptions are
continually evaluated based on management's experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events which management considers reasonable under the circumstances. While applying the accounting
policies, the management also makes judgments and estimates. Professional judgements that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial statements and estimates, that may result in
significant adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for the next financial year include:
Impairment of financial assets
Impairment loss is recognized through profit or loss for the year as incurred as a result of one or more events
("loss events") that occurred after the initial financial asset recognition and has an impact on the amount or
terms of estimated future cash flows from the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably
estimated. If the Bank has no objective evidence that an individually assessed financial asset (regardless of its
materiality) is impaired, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics
and collectively assesses them for impairment. The primary factors that the Bank takes into account when
determining whether the financial asset is impaired are its overdue status and realizability of related collateral,
if any.
The main criteria for determination of objective evidence of impairment loss is presented below:
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•

borrower’s financial difficulties;

•

breach of terms of loan agreement (interest or principal amount either not paid or not paid in full);

•
granting a borrower preferential borrowing terms due to his financial difficulties which the Bank would
not otherwise agreed to (restructuring of debt);
•

likelihood of bankruptcy and financial reorganization of the borrower;

•
information indicating impairment on group of loans in the absence of evidence of impairment on an
individual loan is available.
For the purposes of collective assessment of impairment, financial assets are grouped based on similar credit
risk characteristics. Those characteristics are relevant to the estimation of future cash flows for groups of such
assets and are indicative of the debtors' ability to make all payments under the contractual terms in respect of
assets being assessed.
Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are collectively assessed for impairment are estimated
based on the contractual cash flows associated with these assets, and Management’s statistics about the
volumes of overdue debts that can occur as result of loss events and also about the possibility of recovery of
overdue debts. Past experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable data to reflect the effects of
current conditions that did not influence the previous periods as well to eliminate the effect of previous events
that do not currently exist.
If the terms of an impaired financial asset recognized at amortized cost are renegotiated or otherwise modified
due to financial difficulties of the borrower or the issuer, impairment is measured using the original effective
interest rate before the modification of terms. Subsequently, original asset is derecognized, and new asset is
instead recognized at fair value only if the risks and rewards of the asset has changed substantially.
In general, this condition is confirmed by the significant difference between the initial value of the original cash
flows and the discounted value of the new expected cash flows.
Impairment losses are recognised through an allowance account to write down the asset’s carrying amount to
the present value of expected cash flows (which exclude future credit losses that have not been incurred)
discounted at the original effective interest rate of the asset. Calculation of present value of expected future
cash flows of a collateralized financial asset reflects the cash flows that may result from foreclosure, less costs
for acquisition and sale of the collateral, whether or not foreclosure is probable.
If in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss is written down and this can be related objectively to
an event occurring after impairment was recognized (for example, the debtor's credit rating enhancement),
impairment loss recognized prior to this event is reversed by adjusting the allowance account through profit or
loss for the year.
Allowance for impairment of financial instruments available for sale and financial instruments held to maturity,
are determined applying common approaches to determination of allowance for loan impairment assessed on
an individual basis.
Uncollectible assets are written off against the related impairment loss allowance after all the necessary
procedures to recover the asset have been completed and the amount of the loss has been determined.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are recognized as impairment loss through the profit
or loss for the year.
Measurement of derivative financial instruments fair value
Derivative financial instruments representing foreign currency forwards and swaps and exchange of deposits
in different currencies (precious metals) with the National Bank of the Republic of Belarus do not have an active
market and are measured using interest rates parity model. Interest rates applied are the risk free rates on
sovereign debt instruments denominated in respective currency with respective maturity.
Useful lives of property and equipment
As described above, the Bank reviews the estimated useful lives of property and equipment at the end of each
annual reporting period.
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Recognition of deferred taxes
Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all temporary differences, except when the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition (other than a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which may be offset against the deductible temporary differences.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that the benefit will be the implementation of the tax claim, sufficient for full or partial
recovery of the asset.
Measurement of securities held for sale fair value
The fair value of financial assets held for sale is based on quoted market prices or OTC quotations. For financial
instruments that do not have an active market, fair value measurement is less objective and requires use of
judgments, based on liquidity, concentration, uncertainty of market factors, assumptions regarding the cost and
other factors affecting the specific instrument.
Valuation techniques include net present value models and discounted cash flow, comparative analysis with
similar instruments which have observable market prices. Assumptions and data used in valuation techniques
include risk-free and benchmark interest rates, credit spreads and other premiums used to estimate discount
rates, the value of bonds and equity, foreign exchange rates, equity and equity index, as well as the expected
volatility and price ratio. Valuation techniques are aimed at measurement of the fair value, which reflects the
value of a financial instrument, at the reporting date that would have been measured by market participants
acting independently.
Precious metals
To determine fair value of precious metals bullion, purchased in the territory of the Republic of Belarus and
stored in the Bank, National Bank’s accounting price is used, to determine the fair value of precious metals
bullions purchased and stored in the banks - non-residents - London Bullion Market rates.
5.
Changes in accounting policies due to application of new and revised Standards and
Interpretations
In the current period starting 1 January 2015 the Bank applied all new and revised Standards and Interpretations
approved by the IASB and the IFRIC that were applicable to the Bank’s operations. The nature and effect of
the changes are presented below:
IAS 19 Employee benefits
The amendments to IAS 19 clarify that the discount rate used in calculating employee benefit obligations should
be based on high quality corporate bonds or government bonds in the same currency in which the benefit are
to be paid.
Adoption of these amendments will have no impact on the financial statements of the Bank.
6.

Other revised standards and interpretations that will affect future accounting policies

The Bank has not applied issued and not yet effective for the reporting periods, ended 31 December 2015 in
preparation of these financial statements:
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (2014)
Standard is effective for annual periods beginning January 1, 2018 or after that date; it is applied retrospectively
with certain exceptions. Reevaluation of the previous periods is not required, it is permitted only when there is
information without the use of hindsight. Earlier application of standard is permitted.
This standard replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, except that the IAS 39
exception for a fair value hedge of an interest rate exposure of a portfolio of financial assets or financial liabilities
continues to apply, and the Bank has an accounting policy choice between applying the hedge accounting
requirements of IFRS 9 or continuing to apply the existing hedge accounting requirements in IAS 39 for all
hedge accounting.
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Although the permissible measurement bases for financial assets – amortized cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVOCI) and fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL) – are similar to IAS 39, the
criteria for classification into the appropriate measurement category are significantly different.
A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if the following two conditions are met:
- the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold the assets to collect the contractual cash
flows; and
- its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal outstanding.
In addition, for a non-trading equity instrument, a company may elect to irrevocably present subsequent
changes in fair value (including foreign exchange gains and losses) in OCI. These are not reclassified to profit
or loss under any circumstances.
For debt instruments measured at FVOCI, interest revenue, expected credit losses and foreign exchange gains
and losses are recognized in profit or loss in the same manner as for amortized cost assets. Other gains and
losses are recognized in OCI and are reclassified to profit or loss on derecognition.
The impairment model in IFRS 9 replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in IAS 39 with an ‘expected credit loss’
model, which means that a loss event will no longer need to occur before an impairment allowance is
recognized.
IFRS 9 includes a new general hedge accounting model, which aligns hedge accounting more closely with risk
management. The types of hedging relationships – fair value, cash flow and foreign operation net investment
– remain unchanged, but additional judgment will be required.
The Standard contains new requirements to achieve, continue and discontinue hedge accounting and allows
additional exposures to be designated as hedged items.
Extensive additional disclosures regarding an entity’s risk management and hedging activities are required.
The Bank anticipates that the application of IFRS 9 in the future may have a significant impact on amounts
reported in respect of the Bank's financial assets and financial liabilities. However, it is not practicable to provide
a reasonable estimate of the effect of IFRS 9 until a detailed review has been completed.
IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts
The standard is effective from 1 January 2016 with early application permitted.
IFRS 14 is a new standard that allows first-time adopters of IFRS, to continue to account, with some limited
changes, for “regulatory deferral account balance” in accordance with its previous GAAP, both on initial
adoption of IFRS and in its subsequent financial statements.
Adoption of IFRS 14 will have no impact on the financial statements of the Bank, as the Bank is not a first-time
adopter of IFRS.
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
The standard is effective for annual periods beginning 1 January 2018 and after that date with early application
permitted.
The new Standard provides a framework that replaces existing revenue recognition guidance in IFRS. Entities
will adopt a five-step model to determine when to recognize revenue, and at what amount. The new model
specifies that revenue should be recognized when (or as) an entity transfers control of goods or services to a
customer at the amount to which the entity expects to be entitled. Depending on whether certain criteria are
met, revenue is recognized:
- over time, in a manner that depicts the entity’s performance; or
- at a point in time, when control of the goods or services is transferred to the customer.

IFRS 15 also establishes the principles that an entity shall apply to provide qualitative and quantitative
disclosures which provide useful information to users of financial statements about the nature, amount, timing,
and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from a contract with a customer.
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The Bank anticipates that the initial application of the amendments will not have a material impact on the
presentation on the financial statements of the Bank. The amount and timing of revenue recognition will not
change according to IFRS 15 due to character of the Bank’s activity.
Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements
The Amendments are effective for annual periods beginning 1 January 2016 and after that date with early
application permitted.
The Amendments to IAS 1 include the following five, narrow-focus improvements to the disclosure requirements
contained in the standard.
The guidance on materiality in IAS 1 has been amended to clarify that:
-

Immaterial information can detract from useful information.

-

Materiality applies to the whole of the financial statements.

-

Materiality applies to each disclosure requirement in an IFRS.

The guidance on the order of the notes (including the accounting policies) have been amended, to:
Remove language from IAS 1 that has been interpreted as prescribing the order of notes to the financial
statements.
Clarify that entities have flexibility about where they disclose accounting policies in the financial
statements.
The Bank anticipates that the initial application of the amendments will not have a material impact on the
presentation on the financial statements of the Bank.
Amendments to IFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisition of Interests in Joint Operations
Effective for annual periods beginning January 1, 2016 or after this date. These Amendments require business
combination accounting to be applied to acquisitions of interests in a joint operation that constitutes a business.
Business combination accounting also applies to the acquisition of additional interests in a joint operation while
the joint operator retains joint control. The additional interest acquired will be measured at fair value. The
previously held interests in the joint operation will not be remeasured.
The management of the Bank does not anticipate that the application of these Amendments will have a material
impact on the Bank’s financial statements.
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture
The effective date has not yet been determined by the IASB, but early adoption is permitted.
The Amendments clarify that in a transaction involving an associate or joint venture, the extent of gain or loss
recognition depends on whether the assets sold or contributed constitute a business, such that:
- a full gain or loss is recognized when a transaction between an investor and its associate or joint venture
involves the transfer of an asset or assets which constitute a business (whether it is housed in a subsidiary or
not), while
- a partial gain or loss is recognized when a transaction between an investor and its associate or joint venture
involves assets that do not constitute a business, even if these assets are housed in a subsidiary.
The management of the Bank does not anticipate that the initial application of these Amendments will have a
significant impact on the Bank’s financial statements, since the Bank has no subsidiary, associate or joint
venture companies.
Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation
Exception
The Amendments are effective for annual periods beginning 1 January 2016 and after that date and are applied
prospectively. Early application is permitted.
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These amendments to these standards clarify that:
an investment entity parent is required to fair value a subsidiary providing investment-related services
that is itself an investment entity.
an intermediate parent (holding) owned by an investment entity group can be exempt from preparing
consolidated financial statements.
a non-investment entity investor can retain the fair value accounting applied by its investment entity
associate or joint venture.
The Bank does not expect that the amendments, when initially applied, will have material impact on the financial
statements.
Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and
Amortization
The Amendments are effective for annual periods beginning 1 January 2016 and after that date and are applied
prospectively. An early application is permitted.
The Amendments to IAS 16 prohibit entities from using a revenue-based depreciation method for items of
property, plant and equipment.
The amendments introduce a rebuttable presumption that the use of revenue-based amortization methods for
intangible assets is inappropriate. This presumption can be overcome only when revenue and the consumption
of the economic benefits of the intangible asset are ‘highly correlated’, or when the intangible asset is expressed
as a measure of revenue.
It is not expected that the initial application of the Amendments will have a significant impact on the Bank's
financial statements as the Bank does not apply the depreciation method based on revenue.
Amendments to IFRS 16 Property Plant and Equipment and IAS 41 Agriculture
The Amendments are effective from 1 January 2016 with early application permitted.
These amendments result in bearer plants being in the scope of IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment, instead
of IAS 41 Agriculture, to reflect the fact that their operation is similar to that of manufacturing.
The Bank does not expect that the application of these amendments will have a material impact on the Bank’s
financial statements since it does not have bearer plants.
Amendments to IAS 27 Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements
The Amendments are effective for annual periods beginning 1 January 2016 and after the date are applied
retrospectively with early application permitted.
The amendments to IAS 27 allow an entity to use the equity method in its separate financial statements to
account for investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.
The Bank does not expect that the application of these Amendments will have a material impact on the Bank’s
financial statements.
Annual Improvements to IFRSs
Annual improvements to IFRSs 2012-2014 cycle were issued on 25 September 2014 and introduced five
amendments to four standards that result in accounting changes for presentation, recognition or measurement
purposes. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. Earlier
application is permitted.
None of these amendments are expected to have a significant impact on the financial statements of the Bank.
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7.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include the following positions:

Due from banks with initial maturities of less than 90 days
Cash on hand
Demand deposits with the National Bank of the Republic of Belarus
Trading balances due from the National bank
Total cash and cash equivalents

31 December
2015
383 000
222 337
110 041
715 378

31 December
2014
341 917
147 232
183 482
6 446
679 077

As at 31 December 2015 cash and cash equivalents comprised correspondent accounts with Belarusian and
foreign banks. The amount due from CommerzBank AG, located in Frankfurt am Main and having a BBB credit
rating, exceeded 10% of the Bank’s equity and was BYR 102 658 mln
As at 31 December 2014 amounts due from banks comprised a balance with Belarusbank, having a B- credit
rating, which exceeded 10% of the Bank’s equity and was BYR 54 591 mln As at 31 December 2014 the amount
due from CommerzBank AG, located in Frankfurt am Main, also exceeded 10% of the Bank’s equity, being
BYR 62 345 mln
8.

Precious metals

Bars on hand
Bars under custody with OECD banks
Total precious metals

31 December
2015
72 560
58 344
130 904

31 December
2014
51 527
51 527

As at 31 December 2015 precious metals comprised gold bars of BYR 130 889 mln and silver bars of BYR
15 mln Gold bars of BYR 58 344 mln are kept under custody with EFG Bank AG, located in Zurich and having
an A credit rating.
As at 31 December 2014 precious metals comprised gold bars of BYR 51 513 mln and silver bars of BYR
14 mln kept on hand.
9.

Due from banks

Amounts due from banks include the following positions:

Restricted balances with other banks
Correspondent accounts and demand deposits with other banks
Term interbank loans and deposits
Total due from banks

31 December
2015
16 597
1 280
17 877

31 December
2014
14 892
901
35 572
51 365

Restricted balances with other banks are represented by funds, which were placed as collateral for the Bank's
liabilities to the bank-acquirer.
10.

Derivative financial instruments

The Bank trades with derivative financial instruments. The table below presents the fair value of derivatives
recognized as assets or liabilities as well as their notional amounts. Notional amounts recognized on the
aggregate basis refer to the sum of the underlying asset of the derivative, the underlying rate or index; they
serve as a basis for measuring changes in the value of the derivative. Notional amounts represent the volume
of transactions but not the credit risk.
The table below presents derivative financial instruments as at 31 December 2015:
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Instrument
Foreign exchange swaps with
the National Bank of the
Republic of Belarus
Precious metals swaps with the
National Bank of the Republic of
Belarus
Total derivative assets /
liabilities
Instrument

Purchase /
sale

Maturity

Amount

Fair value
Assets
Liabilities

Purchase

31.03.2016

5 000 000
EUR

79 078

-

Purchase

19.04.2016

2 000 oz of
gold

30 245

-

109 323

-

Purchase /
sale

Maturity

Amount

Fair value
Assets
Liabilities

Forward contracts
Derivative in foreign currency

Sale

25.12.2016

Derivative in foreign currency

Sale

25.12.2016

Derivative in foreign currency

Sale

10.12.2016

Derivative in foreign currency

Sale

29.12.2017

Derivative in foreign currency

Sale

03.12.2017

Derivative in precious metals
Total forward contracts
Total derivative assets /
liabilities

Sale

22.04.2016

1 500 000
GBP
250 000 000
JPY
2 200 000
CHF
2 000 000
EUR
2 300 000
USD
2 000 oz of
gold

6 296

-

5 742

-

6 444

-

-

(7 387)

-

(7 215)

18 482

(289)
(14 891)

127 805

(14 891)

The table below presents derivative financial instruments as at 31 December 2014:
Instrument
Foreign exchange swaps with
the National Bank of the
Republic of Belarus
Precious metals swaps with the
National Bank of the Republic of
Belarus
Total derivative assets /
liabilities

Instrument

Purchase /
sale

Maturity

Amount
Assets

Fair value
Liabilities

Purchase

31.03.2016

5 000 000
EUR

39 813

-

Purchase

19.04.2016

2 000 oz
of gold

20 950

-

60 763

-

Purchase /
sale

Maturity

Amount
Assets

Fair value
Liabilities

Option
Purchase of precious metals

Sale

20.05.2016

Foreign exchange conversion
Total options
Total derivative assets /
liabilities

Sale

16.07.2015

2 120 oz
of gold
3 500 000
EUR /
4 704 000
USD

75

-

75

(5 412)
(5 412)

60 838

(5 412)

28

JSC "BSB Bank"
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015
(in millions of Belarusian Rubles, taking into account purchasing power as at 31 December 2015, unless
otherwise stated)

In 2015 and 2014 the Bank was operating with derivatives. There derivatives comprised foreign exchange
swaps, forwards and options. As at 31 December 2015 the Bank had forward contracts concluded with the
principal shareholder “Alpin Professional Investment” SA.
11.

Loans to customers and receivables
Customer

Legal entities
Individuals
Total loans to customers
Allowance for impairment
Total net loans to customers and receivables

31 December
2015
51 577
11
51 588
(28 976)
22 612

31 December
2014
72 248
26
72 274
(12 988)
59 286

31 December
2015
27 088
7 037
11
17 452
51 588
(28 976)
22 612

31 December
2014
69 997
2 251
26
72 274
(12 988)
59 286

Details about loan types:

Factoring
Credit lines
Consumer loans
Receivables on installments
Total loans to customers
Allowance for impairment
Total net loans to customers and receivables
Allowance for impairment:
31 December 2015
Individually impaired loans
Total loans and receivables
Allowance for impairment
Loans to customers and receivables less
allowance for impairment

Overdue

Not overdue

Total

4 655
(4 655)

46 933
(24 321)

51 588
(28 976)

-

22 612

22 612

31 December 2014
Individually impaired loans
Total loans and receivables
Allowance for impairment
Loans to customers and receivables less
allowance for impairment

Overdue

Not overdue

Total

-

72 274
(12 988)

72 274
(12 988)

-

59 286

59 286

Breakdown of loans by industry:

Manufacturing
Real estate and construction
Trade
Other
Individuals
Total loans to customers
Allowance for impairment
Total net loans to customers and receivables

31 December
2015
23 800
24 979
2 798
11
51 588
(28 976)
22 612

31 December
2014
41 729
16 527
3 130
10 862
26
72 274
(12 988)
59 286
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Breakdown of loans by collateral:
31 December
2015
22 445
4 807
2 230
22 106
51 588
(28 976)
22 612

Guarantee by legal entities and individuals
Property rights
Real estate
Unsecured loans
Total loans to customers
Allowance for impairment
Total net loans to customers and receivables

31 December
2014
51 859
1 679
573
18 163
72 274
(12 988)
59 286

Analysis of changes in allowance for impairment is set out in Note 28.
12.

Financial assets available for sale

Financial assets available for sale include the following positions:

Bonds issued by Belarusian national authorities
Bonds issued by resident banks and OJSC “Development Bank of the
Republic of Belarus”
Eurobonds
Bonds issued by non-resident banks
Bonds issued by national authorities of the Russian Federation
Listed shares of Russian companies
Other non-listed equity instruments
Total financial assets available for sale
13.

31 December
2015
189 615

31 December
2014
52 701

103 895
43 031
20 741
11 461
412
369 155

85 924
47 978
101
79
186 783

Property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets

The movement of the PPE and intangible assets items is presented below:
Buildings and
constructions

Computers
and office
equipment

Vehicles

Furniture
and other

Capital
expenditure

Intangible
assets

Total

133 093

29 386

4 625

54 671

68 542

6 943

297 260

21 519

2 088

892

5 412

3 426

5 045

38 382

412

67

-

675

(1 294)

140

-

8 553
(32 785)
130 792

(285)
31 256

(92)
5 425

(525)
60 233

70 674

12 128

8 553
(33 687)
310 508

(7 857)
(1 894)

(21 034)
(3 598)

(2 597)
(1 000)

(18 160)
(8 679)

-

(2 285)
(765)

(51 933)
(15 936)

(101)
1 628

283

85

333

-

-

(101)
2 329

(8 224)

(24 349)

(3 512)

(26 506)

-

(3 050)

(65 641)

125 236
122 568

8 352
6 907

2 028
1 913

36 511
33 727

68 542
70 674

4 658
9 078

245 327
244 867

Cost

As at 01.01.2015
Additions in 2015
Acquisitions
Transfers between
items
Transfers from
investment property
Disposals in 2015
As at 31.12.2015
Depreciation and
amortisation
As at 01.01.2015
Accruals in 2015
Accumulated
depreciation over
transfers from
investment property
Disposals in 2015
As at 31.12.2015
Net book value
As at 01.01.2015
As at 31.12.2015
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Cost
As at 01.01.2014
Additions in 2014
Transfers between
items
Transfers from
investment property
Disposals in 2014
As at 31.12.2014
Depreciation and
amortisation
As at 01.01.2014
Accruals in 2014
Disposals in 2014
As at 31.12.2014
Net book value
As at 01.01.2014
As at 31.12.2014

Buildings and
constructions

Computers
and office
equipment

Vehicles

Furniture
and other

Capital
expenditure

Intangible
assets

Total

128 594
136

27 859
1 375

4 157
468

45 498
11 736

75 929
447

5 423
1 507

287 460
15 669

5 286

245

-

1 157

(6 701)

13

-

(923)
133 093

(93)
29 386

4 625

(3 720)
54 671

(1 133)
68 542

6 943

(923)
(4 946)
297 260

(6 377)
(1 480)
(7 857)

(18 221)
(2 893)
80
(21 034)

(2 131)
(466)
(2 597)

(14 854)
(4 320)
1 014
(18 160)

-

(1 628)
(657)
(2 285)

(43 211)
(9 816)
1 094
(51 933)

122 217
125 236

9 638
8 352

2 026
2 028

30 644
36 511

75 929
68 542

3 795
4 658

244 249
245 327

Investments in the investment project "Creation of a multi-functional shopping complex "Village of
hypermarkets" in village Sennitsa-Kopievichi, Minsk region (Note 33) comprise the major part of investments
as at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014. After the procedures for the Bank's withdrawal from the
project are completed capitalized costs will be compensated.
14.

Investment property

Investment property is presented as follows:
Cost
As at 31 December 2013
Additions in 2014
Transfers from investment property to property, plant and equipment
As at 31 December 2014
Additions in 2015
Transfers from investment property to property, plant and equipment
Disposals in 2015
As at 31 December 2015
Accumulated depreciation
As at 31 December 2013
Accruals in 2014
As at 31 December 2014
Accruals in 2015
Accumulated depreciation over transfers from investment property to property, plant
and equipment
Disposals due to sale
As at 31 December 2015
Net book value
As at 31 December 2014
As at 31 December 2015

39 666
8 553
923
49 142
(8 553)
(14 916)
25 673
(2 323)
(433)
(2 756)
(484)
101
1 144
(1 995)
46 386
23 678

Investment property comprises objects like part of an office building. All objects are located in Minsk and put
into operating lease.
Gain from lease of investment property for the year ended 31 December 2015, amounted to BYR 6 813 mln
(31 December 2014 - BYR 6 793 mln).
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The fair value of investment property as at 31 December 2015 was determined by the Bank based on the
market-based approach using data on the value of properties with similar characteristics and was BYR 40 804
mln
In 2015 part of investment property was transferred into owned property, plant and equipment in accordance
with the Bank’s management decision to use the premises in operating activities, namely to establish a new
cash desk center.
15.

Income tax

Income tax expense includes the following items:
31 December
2015
(41 818)
(5 254)
(47 072)

Current income tax expense
Deferred income tax (expense)/income
Income tax expense

31 December
2014
(33 147)
21 044
(12 103)

The Bank provides for taxes based on the tax accounts maintained and prepared in accordance with the tax
regulations of the Republic of Belarus. Income tax rate for Belarusian banks was 25% in 2015 (2014: 18%).
Effective 1 January 2015, the tax rate for banking credit institutions is 25%, therefore the Bank applies the rate
of 25% for accruals of deferred tax assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2014.

Profit before income tax and after loss on net monetary position
related to inflation
Theoretical value of income tax at the statutory rate (25% in 2015,
18% in 2014)
Effect of tax rate change
Permanent differences
Non-taxable income and not deductible for taxation costs
Effect of net monetary position
Total income tax expense

31 December
2015

31 December
2014

170 816

115 155

42 704
(9 006)
13 374
47 072

20 728
(1 778)
(3 992)
(10 661)
7 806
12 103

Permanent differences constitute income from operations with securities included in the list of securities,
income from operations with which is not taken into account when determining the gross profit in accordance
with the Tax Code of the Republic of Belarus.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities as at 31 December as well as their movement in respective years include the
following positions.

Item
Cash and cash equivalents
Derivative financial instruments
Precious metals
Due from banks
Loans to customers and other
receivables
Securities available-for-sale
Property, plant and equipment, and
intangible assets
Investment property
Other assets
Other liabilities
Deferred tax asset

Balance
at 31
December
2014

Change in other
comprehensive
income

Change in
profit/loss

Balance at
31 December
2015

(101)
2 684
(3 663)
(424)

(60)
(2 388)
(4 365)
(5 614)

-

(161)
296
(8 028)
(6 038)

656
1 372

5 672
8

(1 437)

6 328
(57)

6 129
26
(1 135)
2 328
7 872

(2 074)
(26)
5 921
(2 328)
(5 254)

(1 437)

4 055
4 786
1 181
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Change in deferred tax presented in the statement of comprehensive income for the period ended 31 December
2015, in the amount of BYR 1 437 mln was due to the amount of reclassification of deferred tax recognized in
the previous reporting period in the amount of BYR 1 524 mln, transferred to profit/loss upon sale of relevant
securities available-for-sale, as well as the amount of deferred tax of BYR 87 mln due to change in fair value of
securities available-for-sale recognized in the financial statements as at 31 December 2015.
16.

Movement in vacation provision

Provision, opening balance
Charge/(reversal of) provision
Net effect of monetary position
Total vacation provision, closing balance
17.

31 December
2015
1 908
578
2 486

31 December
2014
3 836
(1 393)
(535)
1 908

31 December
2015

31 December
2014

18 125
15 181
9 481
2 321
(15 181)
29 927

516
4 911
1 489
6 400

16 244
5 216
2 989
2 195
26 644
56 571

13 657
21 468
2 929
9 978
48 032
54 432

Other assets and liabilities

Other assets include the following positions:

Other financial assets
Funds transferred to secure payment to non-bank financial institutions
Receivables from shortage of cash funds
Accrued income
Other receivables
Less allowance for impairment (Note 28)
Total other financial assets
Other non-financial assets
Tax recoverable, except for income tax
Prepayments for purchased property, plant and equipment
Materials at warehouse
Other prepayments
Total other non-financial assets
Total other assets

In April 2015 the Bank's employee stole USD 690 000, EUR 64 000, RUB 3 900 000, GBP 1 340, CHF 1 000,
UAH 45 229, and PLN 100. As at 31 December 2015 provision for identified shortage is fully charged (Note
28).
As at 31 December 2015 prepayments for acquired property and equipment and other services amounted to
BYR 24 398 mln In 2015, impairment of prepayments for acquired property and equipment and other services
amounted to BYR 19 182 mln (Note 26). Thus, as at 31 December 2015 unimpaired prepayments amounted
to BYR 5 216 mln
As at 31 December 2014, there was no impairment of other non-financial assets.
Other liabilities include the following positions:

Other financial liabilities
Payables on capital expenditure
Payables in settlements
Total other financial liabilities
Other non-financial liabilities
Payables to the budget, except for income tax
Prepayments received
Other non-financial liabilities
Total other non-financial liabilities
Total other liabilities

31 December
2015

31 December
2014

529
393
922

513
204
717

4 682
2 702
4 080
11 464
12 386

2 377
2 185
4 325
8 887
9 604
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18.

Due to other banks

Balances due to other banks include the following positions:
31 December
2015

31 December
2014

828
828

126
47 393
47 519

31 December
2015
1 042 973
90 224
5 897
1 139 094

31 December
2014
837 354
72 797
14 878
925 029

31 December
2015
759 588
260 991
99 588
18 916
11
1 139 094

31 December
2014
643 477
194 741
74 425
12 379
7
925 029

Current accounts
Term deposits and loans
Total due to other banks
19.

Due to customers

Balances due to customers include the following positions:

Current accounts
Term deposits
Other accounts
Total due to customers
Breakdown of balances due to customers by customers:

Legal entities
Individuals
Entrepreneurs
Non-profit organisations
Non-banking financial organisations
Total due to customers

Effective from 1 May 2015, the National Bank of the Republic of Belarus imposed a limit on raising funds from
non-entrepreneur individuals into deposits in Belarusian rubles and foreign currency of the equivalent of BYR
230 billion due to non-compliance with Parts 1 and 7 of Article 109 of the Banking Code of the Republic of
Belarus.
20.

Subordinated loans
Currency

Alpin Professional Investment SA (Швейцария)
Alpin Professional Investment SA (Швейцария)
Alpin Professional Investment SA (Швейцария)
Alpin Professional Investment SA (Швейцария)
Alpin Professional Investment SA (Швейцария)
Alpin Professional Investment SA (Швейцария)
Total subordinated loans

EUR
EUR
EUR
USD
EUR
EUR

Maturity
20.04.2024
20.04.2024
22.12.2025
19.04.2026
18.05.2026
23.06.2025

Interest
rate
9,00%
9,00%
9,00%
6,50%
6,50%
7,00%

31 December
2015
4 060
21 011
40 600
4 642
7 613
15 225
93 150

34

JSC "BSB Bank"
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015
(in millions of Belarusian Rubles, taking into account purchasing power as at 31 December 2015, unless
otherwise stated)

Currrency
Alpin Professional Investment SA (Швейцария)
Alpin Professional Investment SA (Швейцария)
Alpin Professional Investment SA (Швейцария)
Alpin Professional Investment SA (Швейцария)
Alpin Professional Investment SA (Швейцария)
Alpin Professional Investment SA (Швейцария)
Total subordinated loans

EUR
EUR
EUR
USD
EUR
EUR

Maturity
20.02.2024
20.02.2024
22.12.2025
19.04.2026
18.05.2026
23.06.2025

Interest
rate
9,00%
9,00%
9,00%
6,50%
6,50%
7,00%

31 December
2014
14 883
2 876
28 760
2 963
5 392
10 785
65 659

Subordinated loans were obtained over the period from 2007 to 2010.
Repayments of this debt are subordinate to the Bank’s liabilities to any other creditor.
21.

Share capital

As at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014 the declared, issued and fully paid share capital of the Bank
consisted of 199 929 087 217 ordinary shares and 12 000 000 000 preference shares и 189 000 000 000
ordinary shares and 12 000 000 000 preference shares, respectively, of the nominal value of BYR 1 each (the
historic cost). The inflation effect was BYR 246 527 mln as at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014,
respectively, therefore the inflation-adjusted share capital amounted to BYR 446 456 mln and BYR 435 527
mln, respectively.
The owner of all the preference shares is Alpin Professional Investment SA (Switzerland). Preference shares
are recorded as the Bank’s liabilities as they assume payment of fixed dividends.
In 2015 the Bank made additional contribution to the share capital out of the financial result. At the shareholders’
meeting held in March 2015 the Bank declared dividends of BYR 135 251 mln (excluding the hyperinflation
effect) for the reporting period ended 31 December 2014. Belarusian laws and regulations allow only
accumulated and non-reserved profits recognized in the Belarusian Account Standards financial statements to
be disbursed as dividends.
As at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014 the Bank had no treasury shares.
The value of non-monetary contributions:
•
isolated premises, inventory number 500/D-7023838, address: Minsk, Pobediteley av., 23/З, room 4;
area: 812,2 sq.m.; uses: administrative, value: 5 250 000 000 (five billion two hundred fifty million) Belarusian
rubles;
•
administrative premises, inventory number 500/D-7023839, address: Minsk, Pobediteley av., д.23/3;
value: 2 300 000 000 (two billion three hundred million) rubles;
•
administrative premises, inventory number 500/D-7023840, address: Minsk, Pobediteley av., д.23/3,
value: 2 600 000 000 (two billion six hundred million) rubles;
•
administrative premises, inventory number 37891-258/167, address: Minsk, Kuybysheva str., 40,
value: 420 000 000 (four hundred twenty million) rubles;
•
PPE revaluation fund of 18 803 972 511 (eighteen billion eight hundred three million nine hundred
seventy-two thousand five hundred eleven) rubles.
The value of non-monetary contributions amounts to 13,9% of the Bank’s total share capital, presented in
accordance with requirements of the legislation of the Republic of Belarus.
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22.

Contractual and contingent liabilities

As at 31 December the Bank’s contingent liabilities comprised the following positions:

Credit risk commitments
Letters of credit and guarantees
Loan commitments
Less allowance for impairment
Total loan commitments
Operating lease commitments
Less than 1 year
From 1 to 5 years
More than 5 years
Total operating lease commitments
Total contractual and contingent liabilities
23.

31 December
2015

31 December
2014

818
51
(3)
866

12 663
2 461
15 124

3 628
8 863
12 491
13 357

3 805
2 514
6 319
21 443

Interest income and expense

Interest income on financial instruments measured at fair
value
Financial assets available for sale
Securities in the trading portfolio
Interest income on financial instruments measured at
amortised cost
Loans to customers and receivables
Due from banks
Reverse repurchase transactions
Other transactions
Total interest income

Year ended
31 December 2015

Year ended
31 December 2014

29 827
12 560

28 681
-

31 890
8 342
82 619

38 909
11 708
7 778
4
87 080

As at 31 December 2015 interest income of impaired financial assets amounts to BYR 31 890 mln (2014: BYR
38 909 mln).

Interest expense on liabilities measured at amortised
cost
Due to customers
Due to financial institutions
Other transactions
Total interest expense
Net interest income

Year ended
31 December 2015

Year ended
31 December 2014

(22 473)
(2 417)
(900)
(25 790)

(16 326)
(8 616)
(1 079)
(26 021)

56 829

61 059
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24.

Fee and commission income and expense
Year ended
31 December 2015

Year ended
31 December 2014

75 507
50 417
15 663
8 571
1
34 304
184 463

64 923
47 658
40 999
10 404
10
22 623
186 617

Year ended
31 December 2015

Year ended
31 December 2014

Fee and commission expense
Payment card transactions
Transactions with financial institutions
Trust management services
Foreign exchange transactions
Securities transactions
Other transactions
Total fee and commission expense

(19 392)
(6 331)
(1 250)
(931)
(268)
(1 289)
(29 461)

(12 123)
(4 832)
(1 207)
(719)
(190)
(1 129)
(20 200)

Net fee and commission income

155 002

166 417

Year ended
31 December 2015

Year ended
31 December 2014

124 520
41 220
165 740

44 059
27 575
71 634

Year ended
31 December 2015
6 798
(1 957)
45
3 266
(215)
(15 257)
(19 182)
1 642
(24 860)

Year ended
31 December 2014
7 156
(1 288)
34
(155)
(52)
(2 828)
2 172
5 039

Fee and commission income
Payment card transactions
Customer account management
Foreign exchange transactions
Payment and cash services
Securities transactions
Other transactions
Total fee and commission income

25.

Net gain on foreign exchange transactions

Net gain on foreign exchange transactions
- trading
- revaluation
Total net gain on foreign exchange transactions
26.

Net other (loss)/income

Rental income from operating lease
Consulting fees
Dividends received
Penalties and fines received/(paid)
Loss on disposal of other property
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Impairment loss of non-financial assets (Note 17)
Other income
Total net other (loss)/income
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27.

Operating expenses

Staff costs
Cash collection and other banking expenses
Marketing and advertising
Depreciation and amortisation
Rental and utility expenses
Professional services
Gifts, charity
Software
Taxes other than income tax
Repairs and maintenance
Contributions to the Individuals’ Deposits Security Fund
Equipment and housewares
Security
Communication services
Transport services
Insurance
Other expenses
Total operating expenses
28.

Year ended
31 December 2015
(106 406)
(22 896)
(18 019)
(16 420)
(10 266)
(6 509)
(4 647)
(4 480)
(4 444)
(2 759)
(1 957)
(1 866)
(1 740)
(1 459)
(650)
(403)
(9 582)
(214 503)

Year ended
31 December 2014
(108 095)
(17 089)
(13 939)
(10 289)
(9 088)
(5 618)
(4 097)
(4 161)
(13 570)
(2 607)
(2 160)
(1 921)
(1 402)
(1 294)
(568)
(237)
(6 601)
(202 736)

Allowance for impairment of financial assets

Movement of the recognized allowances for impairment of financial assets is as follows:
31 December 2015
Loans to
customers and
receivables

Due from banks

Other financial
assets

Total

12 988
30 140

7 629

12 539

12 988
50 308

(14 152)

(7 629)

-

(21 781)

-

-

2 642

2 642

28 976

-

15 181

44 157

Allowance for
impairment at the
beginning of the year
Charge of allowance
Write off against the
allowance
Effect of hyperinflation
and exchange
differences
Total allowance for
impairment at the
end of the year

Contributions to the allowance for potential losses on other financial assets caused by significant operational
incident occurred in 2015 – theft of an employee of the Bank 690 000 USD, 64 000 EUR, 3 900 000 RUB,
1 340 GBP, 1 000 CHF, 45 229 UAH and 100 PLN.
31 December 2014
Loans to
customers and
Other financial
receivables
assets
Allowance for impairment at the
beginning of the year
Charge of allowance
Write off against the allowance
Effect of hyperinflation and
exchange differences
Total allowance for impairment
at the end of the year

Total

12 014
2 854

4
(4)

12 014
2 858
(4)

(1 880)

-

(1 880)

12 988

-

12 988
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29.

Risk management policies

The Bank has an internal control system, whose main objectives include:
• ensure sustainable development of the Bank as part of its own strategic objectives in the framework of the
Strategic Development Plan and a risk management strategy;
• ensure protection of interests of shareholders and customers of the Bank;
• development and implementation of system of response measures to risks consistent with the Bank’s profile
and scale of the Bank's activities.
Internal control system of the Bank include General Meeting of the Shareholders, Board of Directors,
Management Board, Risks Committee, Department of risks, Department of Internal Audit, other departments,
employees of the Bank.
In the framework of the internal control system, the Bank has designed a banking risk management strategy,
aimed at detection, identification, assessment, determination of an acceptable level of risk, as well as at
management of banking risk levels and limitation of the Bank’s exposure to risks. The Bank is exposed to credit
risk, liquidity risk, market risk, interest-rate risk of the bank portfolio, country risk, operational risk, reputation
risk, strategy risk.
Monitoring and assessment of the effectiveness of risk management system is performed annually by the
Departments of Internal Audit. The results of monitoring of the internal control system constituents are
summarized by the Department of Internal Audit and presented to the Risks Committee and Board of Directors.
Credit risk
The Bank is exposed to credit risk, which is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge
an obligation in accordance with contractual terms and the legislation and cause the Bank to incur a financial
loss.
The main methods of credit risk management are as follows:
•

establishment of limits;;

•

allocation of powers;

•

creditworthiness assessment, assessment of a customer’s legal status and business reputation;;

•

credit monitoring;

•

charge of impairment allowance;

•

diversification of loan portfolio.

Credit risk management is regulated by the Board of Directors of the Bank. Credit risk management policy is
implemented by the departments of the Bank.
Credit risk management involves credit risk classification by the Assets and Liabilities Management Committee,
and an analysis of the structure and quality of the loan portfolio by the Bank’s departments.
In order to assess potential losses of the Bank as a result of the impact of various factors, the Bank performs
stress-testing of the credit risk on a quarterly basis.
As at the reporting date, the maximum credit risk is presented in the carrying amounts of financial assets
recognized through the statement of financial position.
Maximum credit risk exposure
For financial assets presented in the statement of financial position the maximum exposure to credit risk equals
to a carrying value of those assets, net of allowance for impairment losses. For financial guarantees and other
contingent liabilities the maximum exposure to credit risk is the maximum amount the Bank would have to pay
if the guarantee was called on or in the case of commitments, if the loan amount was called on, less provisions
made for losses on these instruments.
The Bank’s maximum exposure to credit risk varies significantly and is dependent on both individual risks
inherent in certain assets and general market economy risks. As at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014
the Bank’s maximum exposure to credit risk was as follows:
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31 December 31 December
2015
2014
715 378
679 077
7 817
7 801
127 805
60 838
17 877
51 365
22 612
59 286
369 155
186 783
29 927
6 400
1 282 754
1 051 550

Cash and cash equivalents
Mandatory reserve deposit with the National Bank
Derivative financial instruments
Due from banks
Loans to customers and other receivables
Assets available-for-sale
Other assets
TOTAL ASSETS
Collateral

In respect of most loans, the Bank obtains collateral, corporate guarantees and guarantees issued by
individuals. The amount and type of collateral required depend on an assessment of the credit risk of the
counterparty. Guidelines are implemented regarding the acceptability of types of collateral and valuation
parameters. The main types of collateral obtained are presented in Note 11.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk of incurred loss due to the inability to discharge obligations on time and in full.
The Board of Directors of the Bank and the Management Board are policy-making bodies at liquidity
management. In order to manage liquidity risk, the Treasury Department prepares daily payments calendar,
based on which the forecast of liquidity ratios is prepared. Additionally, the Department of Accounting and
Reporting performs calculation and analysis of liquidity ratios, minimal ratios of liquid to total assets and control
of compliance with the requirements set forth by the National Bank of the Republic of Belarus on a daily basis.
Based on the analysis performed, measures are taken to manage liquidity.
The Bank also developed the system of stress-testing of liquidity risk. Department of risks performs stresstesting on a quarterly basis.
The following tables present the analysis of liquidity and interest rate risks which discloses term to maturity of
financial liabilities, calculated for non-discounted cash flows on financial liabilities (principal and interest) at the
earliest date when the Bank will be liable to redeem the liability and the results of conversion of derivative
financial instruments as at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014:

As at 31.12.2015
Financial liabilities
Due to other banks
Due to customers
Subordinated loans
Preference shares
Derivative financial
liabilities
inflow
outflow
Other financial
liabilities
Total potential
future cash
outflows on
financial liabilities
Loan commitments
Total potential
future cash
outflows on all
liabilities

Up to 1
month

1 to 6
months

6 months
to 1 year

1 to 5
years

Over 5
years

No
maturity

Total

Carrying
amount

(828)
(1 138 954)
(639)
-

(560)
-

(7 155)
-

(31 091)
-

(127 831)
-

(12 000)

(828)
(1 139 514)
(166 716)
(12 000)

828
1 139 094
93 150
12 000

-

39 367
(39 656)

-

106 523
(83 310)

-

-

145 890
(122 966)

(922)

-

-

-

-

-

(922)

922

(1 141 343)
-

(849)
-

(7 155)
(866)

(7 878)
-

(127 831)
-

(12 000)
-

(1 297 056)
(866)

1 260 885

(1 141 343)

(849)

(8 021)

(7 878)

(127 831)

(12 000)

(1 297 922)

1 260 885

14 891
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As at 31.12.2014
Financial liabilities
Due to other banks
Due to customers
Subordinated loans
Preference shares
Derivative financial
liabilities
inflow
outflow
Other financial
liabilities
Total potential
future cash outflows
on financial
liabilities

Up to 1
month

6 months
to 1 year

1 to 5
years

Over 5
years

No
maturity

Total

Carrying
amount

(47 889)
(924 299)
(466)
-

(1 731)
(2 254)
-

(2 765)
-

(27 454)
-

(89 852)
-

(12 000)

(47 889)
(926 030)
(122 791)
(12 000)

-

-

50 330
(55 742)

-

-

-

50 330
(55 742)

5 412

(717)

-

-

-

-

-

(717)

717

(973 371)

(3 985)

(8 177)

(27 454)

(89 852)

(12 000)

(1 114 839)

1 056 336

(223)

-

-

(669)

-

(14 207)

(15 099)

(973 594)

(3 985)

(8 177)

(28 123)

(89 852)

(26 207)

(1 129 938)

Loan commitments
Total potential
future cash outflows
on all liabilities

1 to 6
months

47
925
65
12

The table below represents the analysis of liquidity risk based on the book value of financial assets and
liabilities:
As at 31.12.2015
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Precious metals
Mandatory reserve deposits with
the National Bank
of the Republic of Belarus
Derivative financial assets
inflow
outflow
Due from banks
Loans to customers
Financial assets available for
sale
Other financial assets
Total financial assets
Financial liabilities
Derivative financial liabilities
inflow
outflow
Due to other banks
Due to customers
Subordinated loans
Preference shares
Other financial liabilities
Total financial liabilities
Net book value
Loan commitments
Total

Up to 1
month

1 to 6
months

6 months
to 1 year

1 to 5
years

Over 5
years

No
maturity

Total

715 378
130 904

-

-

-

-

-

715 378
130 904

17 877
8 614

141 156
(30 335)

139 521
(121 037)

10 463

3 535

-

-

7 817
-

7 817
127 805
17 877
22 612

5 514
29 927
908 214

98 656
219 940

98 682
120 701

154 440
154 440

11 451
11 451

412
8 229

369 155
29 927
1 421 475

-

-

-

-

-

-

(14 891)

(828)
(1 138 538)
(922)
(1 140 288)

39 367
(39 656)
(556)
(845)

-

106 523
(83 310)
23 213

(93 150)
(93 150)

(12 000)
(12 000)

(828)
(1 139 094)
(93 150)
(12 000)
(922)
(1 260 885)

(232 074)

219 095

120 701

177 653

(81 699)

(3 771)

(232 074)

219 095

(866)
119 835

177 653

(81 699)

(3 771)

(866)
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As at 31.12.2014
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Precious metals
Mandatory reserve deposits with
the National Bank
of the Republic of Belarus
Derivative financial liabilities
inflow
outflow
Securities in the trading portfolio
Due from banks
Loans to customers
Financial assets available for sale
Other financial assets
Total financial assets
Financial liabilities
Derivative financial liabilities
inflow
outflow
Financial liabilities measured at
fair value through profit or loss
амортизированной стоимости
Due to other banks
Due to customers
Subordinated loans
Preference shares
Other financial liabilities
Total financial liabilities
Net book value
Loan commitments
Total

Up to 1
month

1 to 6
months

6 months
to 1 year

1 to 5
years

Over 5
years

No
maturity

Total

679 077
51 527

-

-

-

-

-

679 077
51 527

-

-

-

-

-

7 801

31 305
15 815
26 669
183
6 400
810 976

35 550
31 001
3 336
69 887

489
29 498
-.
29 987

137 326
(60 142)
1 127
143 673
221 984

9 913
9 913

180
7 981

7 801
60 838
31 305
51 365
59 286
186 783
6 400
1 134 382

-

-

50 330
(55 742)

-

-

-

(5 412)
-

(47 519)
(923 360)
(717)
(971 596)
(160 620)

(1 669)
(1 669)
68 218

(5 412)
24 575

221 984

(65 659)
(65 659)
(55 746)

(12 000)
(12 000)
(4 019)

(47 519)
(925 029)
(65 659)
(12 000)
(717)
(1 056 336)

(223)
(160 843)

68 218

24 575

(669)
221 315

(55 746)

(14 207)
(18 226)

(15 099)

Market risk
Market risk covers interest rate risk of the Bank on securities’ trading portfolios, currency risk equity and
commodity risks.
The Bank’s management risk policy is approved by the Board of Directors.
Trading portfolio interest rate risk is the possibility that the Bank will suffer loss or not gain the expected
income from the changes in value of on- and off-balance sheet items which form the trading portfolio due to
changes in interest rates.
Sensitivity analysis – interest risk
The degree of impact of expected changes in interest rates on the total profit of the Bank is evaluated based
on the volume of financial assets and financial liabilities with floating interest rates, as well as on volume of
assets at fair value with fixed interest rates as at the reporting date. Additionally, effect of possible
reinvestment of fixed-rate financial assets and financial liabilities at new market rates as they repaid is taken
into account. The calculations are made based on the assumption that the Bank's portfolio structure will
remain the same and on "reasonably possible changes in the risk variables". The following table presents a
sensitivity analysis of the Bank's comprehensive income to changes in market interest rates on an annual
horizon. The analysis is based on assumption of a parallel shift in the yield curve for all types of assets and
liabilities, as well as the equality of the shift of 1 percentage point for all financial instruments, regardless of
the currency in which they are denominated. In addition, the assumption of a one-time change in all types
of market rates at the beginning of the financial year, with subsequent fixation at the levels reached during
the reporting period was taken into account. All other variables were held constant.
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31 December 2015
Interest rate + 1%
Effect on profit before tax
Instruments with floating interest rate
Effect on equity
Instruments with floating interest rate

31 December 2014
Interest rate + 1%

(1 772)

(6 913)

(1 329)

(5 185)

Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk of loss from changes in the value of balance sheet and off-balance sheet assets and
liabilities of the Bank denominated in foreign currency due to changes in foreign exchange rates.
The Bank analyzes, on a regular basis, open currency position, and regularly assesses the structure of assets
and liabilities by currency in order to meet the limit on open foreign currency position. This limit is set by the
National Bank of the Republic of Belarus in the amount of not more than 10% of the regulatory capital of the
Bank for each foreign currency.
The Risk Manager carries out “value at risk” (VaR) analysis. Data on currency positions and currency exchange
rates is used during stress-testing. Stress-testing results are reported to the members of the Management
Board on a quarterly basis.
The Bank’s exposure to currency risk as at 31 December 2015 is as follows:
As at 31.12.2015

BYR

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Precious metals
Mandatory reserve deposits with the
National Bank
of the Republic of Belarus
Due from banks
Loans to customers
Financial assets available for sale
Other financial assets
Total financial assets
Financial liabilities
Due to other banks
Due to customers
Subordinated loans
Preference shares
Other financial liabilities
Total financial liabilities
Net open position

USD

EUR

RUB

Other

Precious
metal

Total

172 076
-

314 015
-

108 700
-

38 202
-

82 385
-

130 904

715 378
130 904

7 817
20 391
142 224
9 985
352 493

16 290
2 221
95 116
19 309
446 951

55
101 297
287
210 339

78
19 333
346
57 959

174
11 185
93 744

1 280
132 184

7 817
17 877
22 612
369 155
29 927
1 293 670

697
523 959
12 000
922
537 578
(185 085)

65
403 812
4 642
408 519
38 432

50
169 237
88 508
257 795
(47 456)

2
33 605
33 607
24 352

14
8 481
8 495
85 249

132 184

828
1 139 094
93 150
12 000
922
1 245 994

Derivative financial instruments
Fair value of the derivative financial instruments is included in the currency analysis presented above and the
following table presents further analysis of currency risk of derivative financial instruments as at 31 December
2015:
As at 31.12.2015

BYR

Derivative financial instruments
Claims
285 411
Obligations
(30 335)
Net derivative financial
instruments position
255 076
Total net position
69 991

USD

EUR

RUB

Other

Precious
metal

(42 709)

101 500
(40 601)

-

(121 037)

39 656
(39 656)

(42 709)
(4 277)

60 899
13 443

24 352

(121 037)
(35 788)

132 184

Total
426 567
(274 338)

The Bank’s exposure to currency risk as at 31 December 2014 is as follows:
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As at 31.12.2014

BYR

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Precious metals
Mandatory reserve deposits with the
National Bank
of the Republic of Belarus
Securities in the trading portfolio
Due from banks
Loans to customers
Financial assets available for sale
Other financial assets
Total financial assets
Financial liabilities
Due to other banks
Due to customers
Subordinated loans
Preference shares
Other financial liabilities
Total financial liabilities
Net open position

USD

EUR

RUB

Precious
metal

Other

Total

256 142
-

221 598
-

175 713
-

19 536
-

6 088
-

51 527

679 077
51 527

7 801
31 305
58 757
102 611
5 329
461 945

45 907
47 991
143
315 639

4 558
529
27 514
793
209 107

4 648
51
24 235

4 019
84
10 191

900
52 427

7 801
31 305
51 365
59 286
186 783
6 400
1 073 544

47 475
529 189
12 000
513
589 177
(127 232)

7
233 848
2 963
146
236 964
78 675

24
139 075
62 696
58
201 853
7 254

2
20 810
20 812
3 423

11
2 107
2 118
8 073

52 427

47
925
65
12

519
029
659
000
717
1 050 924

Derivative financial instruments
Fair value of the derivative financial instruments is included in the currency analysis presented above and the
following table presents further analysis of currency risk of derivative financial instruments as at 31 December
2014:
As at 31.12.2014
Derivative financial instruments
Claims
Obligations
Net derivative financial
instruments position
Total net position

EUR

RUB

Precious
metal

BYR

USD

Other

(30 335)

37 306
(55 742)

122 230
-

-

-

28 120
(29 807)

(30 335)
(157 567)

(18 436)
60 239

122 230
129 484

3 423

8 073

(1 687)
50 740

Total
187 656
(115 884)

Sensitivity analysis – currency risk
Strengthening/(weakening) of the Belarusian ruble against the currency basket by 30% as at 31 December
2015 would have increased/(decreased) profit before tax and after recognition of profit/(loss) on net monetary
position and equity in amounts, presented in the table below. The analysis suggests that other factors, in
particular interest rates, remain unchanged. Analysis for the year 2014 assumes strengthening / (weakening)
of the Belarusian ruble against the following currencies by 30% as at 31 December 2014.
31 December 2015
30%
-30%
Effect on profit before tax
USD
EUR
RUB
Effect on equity
USD
EUR
RUB

31 December 2014
30%
-30%

(1 283)
4 033
7 306

1 283
(4 033)
(7 306)

18 072
38 845
1 027

(18 072)
(38 845)
(1 027)

(962)
3 025
5 479

962
(3 025)
(5 479)

13 554
29 134
770

(13 554)
(29 134)
(770)
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Geographical risk
Geographical risk is the risk of loss resulting from inability of residents of foreign countries to meet their
obligations as a result of the economic, political and social changes in the respective countries.
The geographical concentration of financial assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2015 and 2014 is set out
below:
As at 31.12.2015
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Precious metals
Mandatory reserve deposits with the National Bank
of the Republic of Belarus
Derivative financial assets
Due from banks
Loans to customers and receivables
Financial assets available for sale
Other financial assets
Total financial assets
Financial liabilities
Derivative financial liabilities
Due to other banks
Due to customers
Subordinated loans
Preference shares
Other financial liabilities
Total financial liabilities
Net position

As at 31.12.2014
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Precious metals
Mandatory reserve deposits with the National Bank
of the Republic of Belarus
Derivative financial assets
Securities in the trading portfolio
Due from banks
Loans to customers
Financial assets available for sale
Other financial assets
Total financial assets
Financial liabilities
Derivative financial liabilities
Due to other banks
Due to customers
Subordinated loans
Preference shares
Other financial liabilities
Total financial liabilities
Net position

Belarus

OECD
countries

Other
countries

Total

441 451
72 560

209 056
-

64 871
58 344

715 378
130 904

7 817
109 323
17 446
22 612
293 510
29 927
993 366

18 482
228 818

431
75 645
199 291

7 817
127 805
17 877
22 612
369 155
29 927
1 421 475

90
1 052 023
922
1 053 035
(59 669)

14 891
7 203
93 150
12 000
127 254
101 574

738
79 868
80 606
118 685

14 891
828
1 139 094
93 150
12 000
922
1 260 885

Belarus

OECD
countries

Other
countries

Total

496 077
51 527

85 475
-

97 525
-

679 077
51 527

7 801
60 763
31 305
50 265
59 286
168 203
6 400
931 627

75
1 100
86 650

18 580
116 105

7 801
60 838
31 305
51 365
59 286
186 783
6 400
1 134 382

47 435
824 448
717
872 600
59 027

5 412
4 155
65 659
12 000
87 226
(576)

84
96 426
96 510
19 595

5 412
47 519
925 029
65 659
12 000
717
1 056 336
78 046
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Operational risk
Operational risk is a risk of loss as a result of non-compliance of the rules and procedures of performing banking
operations and other transactions established by the Bank with legislation or failure of personnel to comply with
them, incompetence or errors made by personnel of the Bank, inadequacy or failure of systems used by the
Bank, including information systems, as well as due to external factors. Operational risk management is carried
out by:
•

allocation of powers;

•

implementation of information security, control and restrict access measures;

•

training and professional development;

•

documentation of controls and procedures;

•

daily monitoring of operational events and other.

Department of risks monitors operational incidents occurred in the Bank and analyses them based on the
number of incidents, as well as the amount of incurred loss, and calculates potential loss from an operational
incident. The Management Board and the Risk Committee consider, on a monthly basis, reports on operational
incidents during the reporting month, and take appropriate decisions and recommendations to reduce the
number of operational risk in the Bank, avoid and/or minimize loss, additional expenses incurred as a result of
non-compliance of the banking operations and the other transactions procedures established by the Bank with
the legislation and violations of such by the Bank’s employees, incompetence or mistakes by the Bank’s
employees, non-compliance or failure of systems used by the Bank, including information systems and due to
external factors.
30.

Capital management

The Bank manages its capital to ensure compliance with prudential requirements and ability to continue as a
going concern while providing the maximum return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt-toequity balance.
Capital requirements established by the National Bank of the republic of Belarus provide that banks maintain
the capital to risk-weighted assets ratio (the regulatory capital adequacy ratio) above the minimum value of
10%. The table below presents the regulatory capital according to the Bank’s financial information compilied in
compliance with accounting laws and provisions of the Republic of Belarus.

Basic capital (tier 1 capital)
Share capital
Funds and accumulated profit
Intangible assets (minus)
Overdue, accrued and unreceived income (minus)
Additional capital (tier 2 capital)
Retained profit unconfirmed by auditor
Previous-year profit
Funds from profit
Revaluation of property, plant and equipment
Revaluation of securities
Subordinated loan
Subordinated loan considered
Overdue income; income accrued and unreceived within 30 days
after the accrual date (minus)
Total additional capital
Additional capital considered
Regulatory capital
Regulatory capital adequacy, %
Basic capital adequacy, %

31 December
2015
237 531
211 929
38 937
8 111
5 224
300 963
19 667
17 071
188 226
(421)
93 150
93 150

31 December
2014
214 573
201 000
21 169
4 006
3 590
269 834
25 570
188 805
(4 571)
65 659
65 659

16 730
300 963
237 531
475 062
37
13

5 629
269 834
214 573
429 146
35
12
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The Bank reviews the capital structure on a monthly basis. As a part of this review, the capital adequacy ratio
is determined by comparing the Bank’s own regulatory funds with a quantified assessment of the risks it
undertakes (the risk-weighted assets). The Bank’s management assesses the amount of capital required to
achieve the strategic aims of the Bank and providing the necessary assets growth for the planned perspective,
as well as the optimum relationship between profitability and capital adequacy ratio taking into account
requirements of the shareholders, the Bank’s partners and regulatory authorities. The Bank analyses risk
factors having effect on changes in capital and optimizes them with the balanced funding policy.
The minimum value of share capital established by the National Bank of the Republic of Belarus is EUR 25
mln, which is equivalent to BYR 507 500 mln as at 31 December 2015. In 2015 the Bank occasionally failed to
comply with the capital adequacy requirement due to fluctuations in the Belarusian ruble exchange rate to the
euro. Effective from 1 January 2016, the new amendments to the banking legislation of the Republic of Belarus
fix the regulatory capital requirement in Belarusian rubles and set it equal to BYR 450 bln for the period from 1
January 2016 to 1 April 2016. The capital adequacy requirement for the period from 1 April 2016 – 1 July 2016
is set by the National Bank of the Republic of Belarus in the amount of 477 500 mln
In 2015 the IFRS capital structure changed due to the following factors:
•

share capital was increased with accumulated profits by an additional share issue of BYR 10 929 mln;

•

dividend payout of BYR 84 327 mln

In 2014 the IFRS capital structure changed due to the following factors:
•

share capital was increased with accumulated profits by an additional share issue of BYR 48 533 mln;

•

dividend payout of BYR 135 322 mln

31.

Fair value of financial instruments

IFRS define fair value as the price that would be received for sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
Fair value of the Bank's financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis
Some of the Bank's financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The
following table gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets and financial liabilities are determined (in
particular, the valuation techniques and inputs used).
Financial
assets /
financial
liabilities
Derivative
financial
instruments
(assets)
(Note 10)

Fair value as at
31
31
December
December
2015
2014
127 805
60 838

Fair
value
hierarchy
Level 3

Valuation methodology
and key inputs

Significant unobservable
inputs and dependence of
fair value on the inputs

Discounted cash flows.
Future cash flows are
assessed with the interest
rate
parity
model.
Sovereign risk level rates
for financial instrument
denominated
in
the
respective currency and
having
respective
maturities are applied.

The applied rates for foreign
currency
instruments
are
determined based on the riskfree
interest
rates
for
instruments in the respective
currency materially adjusted for
default risk subject to the
contractor’s rating.
The applied rates for Belarusian
ruble denominated instruments
are determined as the average
interest rates for financial
instruments having a respective
maturity and contractor type.
Gold rates are determined
based on the KITCO Gold Lease
Rates date.
The higher the rate of return for
foreign currency instruments
and gold is, the less the fair
value is.
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Securities
measured at
fair value
through profit
or loss
Investments
available for
sale less
equity
investments
(Note 12)
Investments
available for
sale less
equity
investments
(Note 12)
Derivative
financial
instruments
(liabilities)
(Note 10)

-

31 305

Level 1

Quoted bid prices in an
active market.

Not applicable.

368 743

186 682

Level 2

Discounted cash flows.
Respective risk level rates for
financial
instrument
denominated in the respective
currency and having respective
maturities are applied.

-

101

Level 1

Discounted cash flows.
Respective risk level rates
for financial instrument
denominated
in
the
respective currency and
having
respective
maturities are applied.
Quoted bid prices in an
active market.

14 891

5 412

Level 3

Discounted cash flows.
Future cash flows are
assessed with the interest
rate
parity
model.
Sovereign risk level rates
for financial instrument
denominated
in
the
respective currency and
having
respective
maturities are applied.

The applied rates for foreign
currency
instruments
are
determined based on the riskfree
interest
rates
for
instruments in the respective
currency materially adjusted for
default risk subject to the
contractor’s rating.
The applied rates for Belarusian
ruble denominated instruments
are determined as the average
interest rates for financial
instruments having a respective
maturity and contractor type.
Gold rates are determined
based on the KITCO Gold Lease
Rates date.
The higher the rate of return for
foreign currency instruments is,
the higher the fair value is.

Not applicable.

The table below presents the reconciliation of financial instruments categorized into Level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy, including the total profit or loss for the reporting period recognized in the statement of profit and loss
and other comprehensive income.
Derivative
Derivative
financial
financial
assets
liabilities
Total
31 December 2014

60 838

(5 412)

55 426

Income recognized in the statement of profit and loss
including:
realized income
unrealized income/(expenses)
Purchase of derivative financial instruments
Settlement of derivative financial instruments

60 546

(1 961)

58 585

1 159
59 387
16 531
(10 110)

(1 961)
(22 898)
15 380

1 159
57 426
(6 367)
5 270

31 December 2015

127 805

(14 891)

112 914

Financial instruments which fair value approximates carrying value
Carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities presented in the table below approximates their fair value.
The fair value of financial instruments recognized at amortized cost, is presented in the table below:
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31 December 2015
Book value
Fair value
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Precious metals
Mandatory reserve deposits with the
National Bank
of the Republic of Belarus
Due from banks
Loans to customers
Other financial assets
Total financial assets measured at
amortised cost
Financial liabilities
Due to other banks
Due to customers
Subordinated loans
Preference shares
Other financial liabilities
Total financial liabilities
recognized at amortised cost

31 December 2014
Book value
Fair value

715 378
130 904

715 378
130 904

423 736
51 527

423 736
51 527

7 817
17 877
22 612
29 927

7 817
17 877
22 612
29 927

7 801
51 365
59 286
6 400

7 801
51 365
59 286
6 400

924 515

924 515

855 457

855 457

828
1 139 094
93 150
12 000
922

828
1 139 094
93 150
12 000
922

47 519
925 029
65 659
12 000
717

47 519
925 029
65 659
12 000
717

1 245 994

1 245 994

1 050 924

1 050 924

For financial assets and liabilities that have a short term maturity (less than 3 months), it is assumed that the
carrying amounts approximate to their fair value. This assumption is also applied to demand deposits and
current accounts without a maturity.
Due from the National Bank of the Republic of Belarus and other banks
The management assumes that the fair value of short-term deposits in banks does not differ materially from the carrying
value due to the fact that they have floating interest rate or fixed rate, which corresponds to the market rate.
Loans to customers
Loans to customers are granted at both floating and fixed rates. As there is no active secondary market in the Republic of
Belarus for such loans, it is difficult to give reliable estimate of market value for this portfolio.
The Bank has a contractual right to revise and actually revises the interest rates for loans with fixed interest rates to correspond
to the current market situation. As a result, interest income on the most of balances is charged at rates, which approximate
market ones. Due to this fact, the fair value of loans to customers with fixed rate also does not materially differ from the carrying
value.
Due to banks
Loans received from banks are granted at fixed interest rates.
Maturities for the majority of loans with fixed interest rates do not exceed one year period. Due to this fact the fair value of
loans to customers with fixed rate also does not materially differ from the carrying value.
Customer accounts
Customer deposits have fixed rates.
The management revises the rates for deposits with fixed interest rates to correspond to the current market situation. As a
result interest expense on the most of balances is charged at rates which approximate market ones. Due to this fact the fair
value of deposits with fixed rates does not also materially differ from their carrying value.
32.

Related party transactions

Parties are considered to be related if they are under common control or one party has the ability to control
the other party or exercise significant influence on the other party when making financial and operational
decisions. In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the
relationship, and not merely the legal form.
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The Bank had the following balances outstanding as of 31 December 2015 on transactions with related
parties:
Parent
company
Loans to customers and receivables, gross
Allowance for impairment, closing balance
Due to customers
Subordinated loans

93 150

Companies
under common
control
20 429
(18 222)
2 501
-

Key management
personnel
11
-

The table below presents the balances with related parties as at 31 December 2014:
Parent
company
Loans to customers, gross
Allowance for impairment, closing balance
Due to customers
Subordinated loans

65 659

Companies
under common
control
1 102
(81)
999
-

Key management
personnel
1
-

The table below presents the items of income and expenses on the related party transactions:

Interest income
Interest expense
Allowance for impairment of loans
Fee and commission income

Year ended
31 December 2015
Companies
Parent
under common
company
control
1 616
(6 835)
(18 222)
31

Year ended
31 December 2014
Parent
company
(5 600)
-

Companies under
common control
332
(1)
(81)
36

Benefits to key management personnel of the Bank comprise salary and short-term benefits. As at 31 December
2015 and 2014 benefits were paid in amount of BYR 4 966 mln and BYR 4 280 mln respectively.
Additionally, in 2015 the Bank sold property and equipment and investment property in form of real estate to a
company under common control with installment payment plan. The amount of revenue from the sale of the
real estate recognized at fair value was BYR 11 384 mln, while the residual value of sold real estate amounted
to BYR 30 808 mln The resulting loss on disposal of property and equipment is BYR 19 424 mln
33.

Subsequent events

Since 2010, the Bank is a co-investor in the investment agreement between the Republic of Belarus, “Swiss
Investment Sentury” SA (Switzerland) and the Bank for creation of a multi-functional shopping complex "Village
of hypermarkets" in village Sennitsa-Kopievichi, Minsk region. Under the current legislation investment activity
does not constitute banking activity, so the Bank plans to withdraw from this investment agreement. Capital
investments into the investment project as at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014 amounted to BYR
67 964 mln (Note 13).
Together with representatives of the Minsk City Executive Committee, the National Bank of the Republic of
Belarus, JSC "BSB Bank" and IPSUP "Belswissinvest" held a meeting on implementation of the investment
project "Creation of a multi-functional shopping complex "Village of hypermarkets" in village SennitsaKopievichi, Minsk region." Based on the results of the meeting a procedure of subsequent withdrawal of
JSC "BSB Bank" from the investment agreement was set in the following order:
- to carry out preservation procedure for unfinished construction until 1 March 2016;
- to transfer the inactive facility that belongs to IPSUP "Belswissinvest" until 15 March 2016;
- for the Economy Committee of the Minsk City Executive Committee after the completion of the object transfer
procedure to draw and sign a supplementary agreement to the investment agreement, providing withdrawal of
JSC "BSB Bank" from the investment agreement until 1 April 2016.
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As at the date of authorization of these financial statements for issue, preservation of unfinished construction
of the facility with the appropriate state registration and transfer of lease rights and other rights for the facility
to IPSUP "Belswissinvest" preserving the Bank's share in the amount of its participation in the costs of financing
the facility in part of establishment of banking facilities were completed.
The Bank and the Shareholders conduct comprehensive work to resolve this issue. Thus, on 3 June 2016 Minsk
Regional Executive Committee held a Meeting, which was attended by the Deputy Head of the Presidential
Administration, the Director of the Company «Swiss Investment Sentury SA» and other significant persons.
This signifies that the Bank and the Shareholders take all steps to withdraw from the Investment agreement
and to implement the resolution of the National Bank of the Republic of Belarus.
JSC "BSB Bank"’s share of the project will be determined in accordance with the legislation of the Republic of
Belarus.
The National Bank of the Republic of Belarus imposed restrictions on banking operations on raising funds from
individuals into accounts and deposits in the form of non-exceeding 230 billion of Belarussian rubles of funds
raised into accounts and deposits, in Belarusian rubles and foreign currency, of individuals who are not
individual entrepreneurs.
Forward contracts with major shareholder ”Alpin Professional Investment” SA (Note 10) were terminated by
mutual agreement in the period between the reporting date and the date of authorization of the financial
statements for issue.
According to official data published by the National Statistical Committee of the Republic of Belarus, inflation in
the Republic of Belarus for the period January- May 2016 was 7%.
For the period starting from 1 January 2016 and until the date of authorization of these financial statements for
issue, the Belarusian ruble weakened against the currency basket by 13,93%.
With regard to the requirements of regulatory capital as at of the date of issue of the financial statements, the
Bank complies with the requirements for the minimum regulatory capital set by the National Bank of the
Republic of Belarus, the size of the regulatory capital is BYR 582 823,9 mln (unaudited) with the minimum norm
of BYR 477 500 mln.
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